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)
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)




)
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)

DECISION


The Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (MHTC) is authorized to seek civil penalties and injunctive relief in circuit court against Shad Ridenhour d/b/a/ Ridenhour Excavating (Ridenhour) for:

· two violations related to controlled substances tests

· two violations related to medical certification

· one violation for failure to maintain a driver qualification file

· two violations for failure to record duty status

· one violation for driving a vehicle that had been placed “out of service” before the defects were repaired

· one violation for failing to complete a driver vehicle inspection report

Procedure


On December 27, 2002, the MHTC filed a complaint.  This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on October 24, 2003.  Gary J. Holtmeyer, Jr., the MHTC’s assistant counsel, represented the MHTC.  F. Randall Waltz, III and Tina Crow Halcomb, with Waltz & Associates, represented Ridenhour.  The matter became ready for our decision on December 31, 2003, when our reporter filed the transcript.


Commissioner John Kopp, having read the full record including all the evidence, renders the decision.  Section 536.080.2;
  Angelos v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 90 S.W.3d 189 (Mo. App., S.D. 2002).  Ridenhour admitted to two of the allegations in Count I, one of the allegations in Count II, and all the allegations in Counts III – VI.  Ridenhour disputes the facts concerning one alleged violation in Count I and one alleged violation in Count II.

Findings of Fact

1. Ridenhour does business as Ridenhour Excavating, 2207 Expressview Drive,  Jefferson City, Missouri.  He does basic excavating work within a 50-mile radius from Jefferson City, tearing down houses, clearing land, and hauling rocks, gravel and sand.

Count I

2. On May 2, 2002, and June 17, 2002, Ridenhour’s employee drove a commercial motor vehicle although Ridenhour had not received that employee’s controlled substances test result from the Medical Review Officer (MRO) or Consortium/Third Party Administrator (C/TPA) indicating a verified negative test result.

3. On May 9, 2002,
 John Schulte drove Ridenhour’s truck for Schulte’s personal business.  Schulte was not Ridenhour’s employee.

Count II

4. On April 2, 2002, and May 1, 2002, Ridenhour’s employee drove a commercial motor vehicle although the employee had not been medically examined and certified during the preceding 24 months as physically qualified to operate the vehicle.

Count III

5.  On May 2, 2002, Ridenhour’s employee drove a commercial motor vehicle although Ridenhour had not maintained that employee’s driver qualification file.

Count IV

6. On May 9, 2002, and June 17, 2002, Ridenhour’s employee drove a commercial motor vehicle, but Ridenhour did not require the employee to record his duty status.

Count V

7. On June 5, 2002, Ridenhour’s employee drove a commercial motor vehicle that had been placed “out of service” before all defects were repaired.

Count VI

8. On April 22, 2002, Ridenhour drove a commercial motor vehicle but did not complete a driver vehicle inspection report at the completion of that day’s work.

Investigation

9. On June 5, 2002, Michael Wade, an Intermediate Transportation Enforcement Inspector, conducted an investigation of Ridenhour’s safety practices.

Conclusions of Law

The MHTC asks that this Commission authorize it to file suit in circuit court for injunctive relief and monetary penalties.  Section 390.156 provides: 

An action to recover a penalty or a forfeiture under this chapter or to enforce the powers of the division under this or any other law may be brought in any circuit court in this state in the name of the state of Missouri and shall be commenced and prosecuted to final judgment by the general counsel to the [MHTC]. . . .

Section 622.290.1 provides:

Whenever the [MHTC] shall be of the opinion that a carrier, person or corporation is failing or omitting or about to fail or omit to do anything required of it by law or by order or decision of the [MHTC], or is doing anything or about to do anything or permitting anything or about to permit anything to be done, contrary to or in violation of law or of any order or decision of the [MHTC], it shall direct the general counsel to the [MHTC] to commence an action or proceeding in any circuit court of the state of Missouri in the name of the [MHTC] for the purpose of having such violations or threatened violations stopped and prevented either by mandamus or injunctions.  The [MHTC]'s general counsel shall thereupon begin such action or proceeding by a petition to such court alleging the violation complained of and praying for appropriate relief by way of mandamus or injunction. Such relief shall not be limited to permanent forms of mandamus and injunction, but shall include all available forms of injunction and mandamus, including temporary restraining orders, preliminary injunctions, permanent injunctions, preliminary orders of mandamus, and permanent orders of mandamus.


Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2003, transfers to this Commission the adjudicatory subject matter of the former Division of Transportation.  Section 621.040 does not specifically vest us with jurisdiction to decide whether the MHTC may seek relief in circuit court, nor does 

any other statute.   However, we have concluded that State v. Carroll, 620 S.W.2d 22 (Mo. App., S.D. 1981), mandates this procedure.  In that case, the Southern District held that the Division of 

Transportation (MHTC’s predecessor for enforcement purposes) could not file suit for penalties in circuit court until “after a proper hearing” on whether to do so.
 

Ridenhour has the burden of proof under § 622.350, which states:

In all trials, actions, suits and proceedings arising under the provisions of this chapter or growing out of the exercise of the authority and powers granted in this chapter to the [MHTC], the burden of proof shall be upon the party adverse to the [MHTC] . . . to show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the division complained of is unreasonable or unlawful as the case may be.

(Emphasis added.)

Civil Penalties 


Sections 390.176 and 622.480 allow the MHTC to seek a penalty for each violation of the law by a motor carrier.  Ridenhour is a motor carrier, defined at § 390.020(18) as:

any person engaged in the transportation of property or passengers, or both, for compensation or hire, over the public roads of this state by motor vehicle.  The term includes both common and contract carriers[.]

(Emphasis added.)  Sections 390.176 and 622.480 provide for civil penalties as follows:

1.  Any [motor carrier that] violates or fails to comply with any . . . law . . . is subject to a penalty of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense. 

2.  Every violation of the provisions of . . . any . . . law . . . by any [motor carrier] is a separate and distinct offense[.] 

(Emphasis added.)

MHTC Enforcement of Federal Regulations

The MHTC may enforce the federal regulations under §§ 390.201 and 622.550:

[The MHTC] may enforce any of the provisions of Parts 350 through 399 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as those regulations have been and may periodically be amended, as they apply to motor vehicles and drivers operating in interstate or intrastate commerce within this state[.]

Count I – Controlled Substance Test


The MHTC argues that Ridenhour allowed an employee to drive a commercial motor vehicle although he did not have a controlled substances test in violation of 49 CFR § 382.301(a), which states:

Prior to the first time a driver performs safety-sensitive functions for an employer, the driver shall undergo testing for controlled substances as a condition prior to being used, unless the employer uses the exception in paragraph (b) of this section.  No employer shall allow a driver, who the employer intends to hire or use, to perform safety-sensitive functions unless the employer has received a controlled substances test result from the MRO or C/TPA indicating a verified negative test result for that driver.

Ridenhour argues that the driver on May 9, 2002, John Schulte, was not his employee, but was a friend who borrowed his truck for personal business.  The MHTC argues that the load ticket with Schulte’s signature shows the company name as Ridenhour Excavating and that the inspector had a right to rely on the paperwork in citing the violation.  We agree, but the purpose of the appeal process is to allow the licensee to offer additional evidence to prove his or her case.  Ridenhour and Dee Ridenhour, his secretary and bookkeeper, testified that Schulte was not an employee.  At most, Ridenhour allowed Schulte to borrow his truck in exchange for home repair 

work.  Ridenhour testified that Schulte charged the load of sand to Ridenhour Excavating, but that it was for Schulte’s personal use.  Ridenhour testified that when Schulte borrowed the truck, he had no idea what Schulte used it for.

We believe the testimony that Schulte was not acting as Ridenhour’s employee.  We find that Ridenhour did not violate 49 CFR § 382.301(a) on May 9, 2002. However, there were two other instances – on May 2, 2002 and June 17, 2002 – that Ridenhour does not contest.  Therefore, we conclude that the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for two violations under §§ 390.176, 622.480, and 622.290.1.

Count II – Medical Examination


The MHTC argues that Ridenhour allowed an employee to drive a commercial motor vehicle although the employee had not been medically examined and certified during the preceding 24 months in violation of Regulation 49 CFR § 391.45, which provides:

Except as provided in § 391.67, the following persons must be medically examined and certified in accordance with § 391.43 as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle:

*   *   *

(b)(1) Any driver who has not been medically examined and certified as qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle during the preceding 24 months[.]
The MHTC’s inspector found that one of the drivers, Travis Arnold, had a medical card with a physical examination date of June 19, 1998, and that the medical card is only good for two years.  The medical certificate on file for Arnold did not have an examination date or expiration date on it.   Wade testified that the expiration date is necessary to prove when the examination took place.  Ridenhour offered no evidence that Arnold had been examined as required by the federal regulation.  Ridenhour did not dispute the other allegation.  Therefore, we conclude that the 

MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for two violations under §§ 390.176, 622.480, and 622.290.1.

Count III – Employee’s Driver Qualification File

The MHTC argues that Ridenhour violated 49 CFR § 391.51, which states:

General requirements for driver qualification files.

(a) Each motor carrier shall maintain a driver qualification file for each driver it employs.  A driver’s qualification file may be combined with his/her personnel file.

(b) The qualification file for a driver must include:


(1) The driver’s application for employment completed in accordance with § 391.21;


(2) A written record with respect to each past employer who was contacted and a copy of the response by each State agency, pursuant to  391.23 involving investigation and inquiries[.]

Ridenhour admits that on April 2, 2002, and May 1, 2002, his employee drove a commercial motor vehicle although Ridenhour had not maintained that employee’s driver qualification file.  Therefore, we conclude that the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for that violation under §§ 390.176, 622.480, and 622.290.1.

Count IV – Duty Status Record

The MHTC also argues that Ridenhour violated 49 CFR § 395.8, which provides:

(a) Except for a private motor carrier of passengers (nonbusiness), every motor carrier shall require every driver used by the motor carrier to record his/her duty status for each 24 hour period using the methods prescribed in either paragraphs (a)(1) or (2) of this section.


(1) Every driver who operates a commercial motor vehicle shall record his/her duty status, in duplicate, for each 24-hour period.  The duty status time shall be recorded on a specified grid, as shown in paragraph (g) of this section.  The grid and the requirements of paragraph (d) of this section may be combined 

with any company forms.  The previously approved format of the Daily Log, Form MCS-59 or the Multi-day Log, MCS-139 and 139A, which meets the requirements of this section, may continue to be used.


(2) Every driver who operates a commercial motor vehicle shall record his/her duty status by using an automatic on-board recording device that meets the requirements of § 395.15 of this part. . . . 

On May 9, 2002, and June 17, 2002, Ridenhour’s driver did not record his duty status time by either method as 49 CFR § 395.8 requires.  Therefore, we conclude that the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for that violation under §§ 390.176, 622.480 and 622.290.1.

Count V – “Out of Service” Vehicle


The MHTC argues that Ridenhour violated 49 CFR § 396.9, which states:

Inspection of motor vehicles in operation

*   *   *

(c) Motor vehicles declared “out of service.”


(1) Authorized personnel shall declare and mark “out of service” any motor vehicle which by reason of its mechanical condition or loading would likely cause an accident or a breakdown.  An “Out of Service Vehicle” sticker shall be used to mark vehicles “out of service.”


(2) No motor carrier shall require or permit any person to operate nor shall any person operate any motor vehicle declared and marked “out of service” until all repairs required by the “out of service notice” have been satisfactorily completed. . . .

Ridenhour admits that on June 5, 2002, his employee drove a commercial motor vehicle that had been placed “out of service” before all defects were repaired.  Therefore, we conclude that 

the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for that violation under 

§§ 390.176, 622.480, and 622.290.1.

Count VI – Vehicle Inspection Report


The MHTC argues that Ridenhour violated 49 CFR 396.11(a), which states:

Driver vehicle inspection report(s)

(a) Report required.  Every motor carrier shall require its drivers to report, and every driver shall prepare a report in writing at the completion of each day’s work on each vehicle operated and the report shall cover at least the following parts and accessories:

· Service brakes including trailer brake connections

· Parking (hand) brake

· Steering mechanism

· Lighting devices and reflectors

· Tires

· Horn

· Windshield wipers

· Rear vision mirrors

· Coupling devices

· Wheels and rims

· Emergency equipment

Ridenhour admits that on April 22, 2002, he drove a commercial motor vehicle but did not complete a driver vehicle inspection report at the completion of that day’s work.  Therefore, we conclude that the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for that violation under §§ 390.176, 622.480, and 622.290.1.

Violation of State Law


The MHTC asks us to find that the violations of the federal regulations are also violations of state law.  Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010(1) states:

Commercial motor vehicles and trailers, in addition to all requirements of state law and consistent with section 307.400, RSMo (1986), shall be operated and equipped in compliance with the requirements for drivers and vehicles established in 49 CFR 390-397 and 49 CFR 100-199.

Section 307.400.1, RSMo Supp. 2003, states:

It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle . . . unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation. . . .

We find that Ridenhour violated this state statute and regulation.

Mitigating Factors


Ridenhour argues that he was unaware of or tried to comply with the regulatory requirements.  Ignorance of the law is not an excuse for failing to follow it.  Reeder v. Board of Police Comm’rs of Kansas City, 800 S.W.2d 5, 6 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  However, the MHTC may exercise discretion in whether to pursue the penalties and in what amount, subject to statutory limitations.  In determining the penalty that it seeks in circuit court, the MHTC may consider the facts presented in this case.

This situation is analogous to the professional licensing cases before this Commission, in which we decide legally whether there could be any cause to discipline a professional’s license under the statutes, and then the discipline to be imposed is in the discretion of the licensing agency.  Similarly, in this case we merely decide that the law authorizes the MHTC to pursue penalties in circuit court.  The degree to which it wishes to pursue such action lies within the discretion of the MHTC.  

Summary


Because Ridenhour committed nine violations of the federal regulations, the MHTC is authorized to seek an injunction and penalties against Ridenhour in circuit court in an amount not 

less than $300 and not greater than $6,000 for each offense as authorized by statute.  The MHTC may consider the mitigating factors that Ridenhour has presented.


SO ORDERED on March 11, 2004.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted. 


	�The complaint lists May 5, 2002 as the date, but Exhibit 7, the load ticket, lists the date as May 9, 2002.


�In State ex rel. Missouri Div. of Transp. v. Sure-Way Transp., 884 S.W.2d 349, 353 n.5 (Mo. App., W.D. 1994), the Western District of the Court of Appeals questioned the Carroll procedure:





Section 390.156 does not give jurisdiction to the Division’s administrative law judge to consider the penalty action.  It requires that the Division prove its case before a circuit judge, not before one of its administrative law judges. . . .  At the minimum, we question whether review by the Division’s administrative law judge must be made in an adversarial hearing.  However, because this issue is not before us, we leave that decision for another case.





Thus, the Western District indicated its willingness to depart from Carroll, but did not have the opportunity to do so.  This Commission has found the Western District’s reading persuasive.  However, Carroll still requires the MHTC to bring a contested case before filing suit in circuit court for penalties.  
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